89391-4

NO. 67832-9-1

5

COURT OF APPEALS OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON DIVISION ONE

THE OHIO CASUALTY INSURANCE COMPANY,

Appellant,

v.

TRINITY UNIVERSAL INSURANCE COMPANY OF KANSAS,

Respondent.

RESPONDENT'S PETITION FOR REVIEW

A. IDENTITY OF THE PETITIONER

The Petitioner is Trinity Universal Insurance Company of Kansas ("Trinity"), Plaintiff below, and Respondent at the court of appeals.

B. COURT OF APPEALS DECISION

Trinity seeks review of the court of appeals decision vacating in part the judgment against The Ohio Casualty Insurance Company, in the Court of Appeals Case No. 67832-9-1. The original Opinion was filed on March 18, 2013. Trinity filed a timely Motion to Reconsider. The Motion to Reconsider was denied, but the court of appeals *sua sponte* withdrew its original opinion and issued a new one, filed August 19, 2013. A copy of the court of appeals' final, published Opinion is Appendix A. A copy of the Order Denying Reconsideration is Appendix B.

C. ISSUES PRESENTED FOR REVIEW

1. Where an insured assigns its policy rights against an insurer by conventional subrogation, and the insurer unreasonably denies the assignee policy benefits, does the *fact of assignment* mean that the nonpaying insurer no longer has the duty of good faith and fair dealing in handling the claim, and is immunized for violations of common law, regulatory and statutory standards of conduct?

2. Is an insurer that has been assigned policy rights against another insurer by conventional subrogation entitled to *Olympic Steamship*

- 1 -

fees when it is forced to sue to establish coverage?

3. Where the court had jurisdiction to enter a Judgment, and it is not void, can that Judgment be vacated on the basis of an alleged legal error more than one year after it was entered?

D. STATEMENT OF THE CASE

As described in Trinity's Complaint, Trinity insured Cascade Construction Co. ("Cascade"), a siding subcontractor building a Rite Aid in Kingston, Washington. CP 1-7. During construction, one of Cascade's employees, Mr. Riley, was injured when he fell off scaffolding. Riley sued the general contractor, Millennium Building Co., Inc. ("MBC"), alleging that his injuries were the result of various negligent acts of *MBC* (ie, *not* Cascade). *Id.*, CP 107-108. MBC tendered to its insurer, Ohio Casualty, which initially agreed to defend. Ohio Casualty – purporting to act on behalf of its insured, MBC - then tendered MBC's defense to Trinity. CP 140-141. MBC was an additional insured under the policy Trinity issued to Cascade, and had a narrow slice of coverage from Trinity *only* for liability resulting from Cascade's "Acts or Omissions." CP 138.

Even though the Complaint alleged *only* acts and omissions of MBC, not Cascade, Trinity read the Complaint broadly (consistent with Washington law) and realized it was "conceivable" that Riley could prove that some *unstated* act or omission of Cascade might have played a role in the injury. CP 107-108. Thus Trinity accepted the tender, and agreed to share defense expenses with Ohio Casualty. CP 90. To Trinity's surprise, Ohio Casualty then unilaterally abandoned its insured, and refused to participate in defense expenses. CP 110-111. This left Trinity and MBC standing together, alone. Ohio Casualty contended that its insurance was "excess", and thus it had no duty to defend, because MBC was covered as an additional insured by Trinity. Id. Trinity repeatedly explained to Ohio Casualty that because the Complaint alleged only negligence (acts or omissions) of MBC, not Cascade, it was most probable that MBC did not have additional insured coverage under the Trinity policy, in which case Ohio Casualty's policy was primary, not excess. CP 87, 107, 113. Trinity reminded Ohio Casualty that if it is even factually or legally conceivable that there might be a liability covered by Ohio Casualty's policy, Ohio Casualty was obligated to defend. CP 113. Ohio Casualty ignored that argument then, as it has throughout this case. Trinity has never "admitted" that its policy covered MBC's liability.

As alleged in the Complaint, Trinity had a contractual assignment of rights from MBC to recover any amounts paid under the policy if the insured had a right to recover that amount from a third party. CP 4^1 . That

¹ See also the copy of Trinity's subrogation endorsement, attached as an exhibit to the Declaration of Mark Richards. This declaration was filed at the court of appeals, pursuant

assignment was automatic via the insurance policy:

If the insured has rights to recover all or part of any payment we have made under this Coverage Form, those rights are transferred to us....

Declaration of M. Richards.

Each time Trinity made a payment on behalf of MBC, for defense expenses and ultimately for indemnity, MBC's rights to recover those payments from MBC's own insurer, Ohio, were transferred to Trinity. Standing in its insured's shoes, Trinity demanded that Ohio Casualty rejoin MBC's defense. Ohio refused. Standing in its insured's shoes, Trinity demanded that Ohio participate in the mediation between Riley and MBC. CP 115. Ohio refused, missing WAC deadlines in responding. CP 119. Standing alone, Trinity did what insurance companies *are supposed to do* where there is any ambiguity regarding a defense tender: it defended MBC and when Ohio refused to show up at mediation, protected the insured by paying to settle the claims against it. CP 96. This payment completely protected MBC, and entirely discharged all of its alleged liability. CP 105. Ohio has *never* produced any evidence that any act or omission of Trinity's insured, Cascade, caused MBC's liability.

Asserting its assigned rights to policy benefits under Ohio's policy,

to that court's Order Granting Trinity's Motion to Supplement the Record. The court of appeals relied on the contents of this endorsement in its revised opinion.

and pursuant to RCW 48.30.015 (the Insurance Fair Conduct Act, or "IFCA"), Trinity gave Ohio notice that it was going to bring suit against Ohio unless Ohio agreed to honor its policy. CP 113. Ohio refused. Trinity then did what it promised it would, and served Ohio with a Summons and Complaint by service on the Insurance Commissioner, as prescribed by statute on May 12, 2010. RCW 48.05.200. CP 299-304. When Ohio failed to appear or answer by July, Trinity moved for a Default Judgment, requesting the cost of defending and indemnifying MBC, and treble damages under the Insurance Fair Conduct Act and Consumer Protection Act. CP 17-21. This Motion was granted. CP 55-56. Trinity has never disputed that it waited for a year to collect the judgment because it would be harder to set the default aside under CR 60 at that point.²

Ohio brought a Motion to Vacate, which was opposed by Trinity, and denied by the trial court. CP 524. Ohio appealed, arguing that Trinity had no standing to assert a claim under the Insurance Fair Conduct Act, nor under the Consumer Protection Act. It contended that this deprived the court of subject matter jurisdiction, and thus voided the Judgment. The court of appeals affirmed in part and reversed in part. The court ruled that

² As the court of appeals correctly notes, "Washington courts do not consider it deceptive or unfair for a plaintiff to wait a year to collect on a default judgment. See, e.g., *Friebe v. Supancheck*, 98 Wn. App. 260, 264, 267, 992 P.2d 1014 (1999) (refusing to characterize the Friebes' "legal sleight-of-hand'" in waiting a year and two days to collect on a default judgment "as unfair or deceptive"); *Allison v. Boondock's, Sundecker's &Greenthumb's. Inc.*, 36 Wn. App. 280, 285-86, 673 P.2d 634 (1983)." Opinion at 7.

standing is not an issue of subject matter jurisdiction in Washington, and that the Judgment was therefore *not* void. It went on to rule, however, that Trinity did not have standing to assert Insurer Fair Conduct or Consumer Protection claims, and vacated the portion of the Judgment that resulted from those statutes' multipliers of actual damages. The court of appeals did not provide any analysis as to which provision of CR 60(b) authorized a partial vacation of this final, valid Judgment. The court of appeals also reversed the trial court's award of attorney fees to Trinity, concluding that neither the Insurer Fair Conduct Act, nor the Consumer Protection Act were applicable, and holding that *Olympic Steamship* does not apply when the plaintiff is a conventionally subrogated insurer. Trinity petitions this Court for review of these issues.

E. ARGUMENT WHY REVIEW SHOULD BE ACCEPTED

The court of appeals erred in three fundamental ways. First, the decision incorrectly immunizes insurers for their bad faith and statutory violations any time more than one insurer is defending. Not only does this violate Washington law, but it also creates an incentive to be the first insurer "out the door" whenever multiple insurers are involved, and is destructive of the public policies behind that law. Second, the court of appeals erred in reversing the trial court's award of Trinity's fees, and denying Trinity its fees on appeal, because a conventionally subrogated

insurer is entitled to *Olympic Steamship* fees. Third, it created an entirely new basis for vacating final judgments that is not authorized by the Court Rules and is contrary to well-established Washington law. Trinity will address each of these arguments below.

1. The court of appeals erred in concluding that Trinity lacked standing to assert IFCA and CPA violations. [RAP 13.4(b)(1), (2) and (4)]

The published opinion from the court of appeals is a license for insurers to abandon their insureds in bad faith without consequence any time more than one insurer is defending. This is because where the right to assert coverage under a non-paying insurer's policy has transferred to the paying insurer by subrogation, the opinion deprives the holder of those policy rights access to the common law and statutory enforcement mechanisms: remedies for bad faith, the IFCA and the CPA. The case law and these statutes were designed to counter exactly the kind of behavior Ohio engaged in here.

Under the court of appeals' ruling, the most Ohio and similarly situated insurers risk by their bad faith is the amount they should have paid in the first place, with no recovery of the attorney fees incurred to force it to do so. Conversely, under the related holding of *Ledcor Indus. (USA), Inc. v. Mut. of Enumclaw Ins. Co.*, 150 Wn. App. 1, 206 P.3d 1255 (2009), *the insured* would have had no right to assert bad faith or statutory claims because the paying insurer had effectively prevented it from suffering any harm. These cases, taken together, have created a safe haven in which insurers are permitted to act in bad faith and violate regulations and statutes with impunity; both the insured and the good faith subrogated insurer are barred from seeking the usual remedies.³ This bad faith refuge is antithetical to the Court's jurisprudence and the public policy reflected in our statutes; it is a refuge that should not have existed in the first place, and this Court should accept review and eliminate it now that it does.

a. Where policy rights have been assigned by subrogation, the assignee is entitled to the same good faith treatment as the insured.

The core error committed by the court of appeals, that enables the existence of the bad faith refuge, was its failure to appreciate the nature of the rights transferred by conventional subrogation. In *Mut. of Enumclaw Ins. Co. v. USF Ins. Co.*, 164 Wn.2d 411, 424, 191 P.3d 866 (2008), this Court addressed the issue in detail:

Subrogation is the principle under which an insurer that has paid a loss under an insurance policy is entitled to *all the rights and remedies belonging to the insured against a third party* with respect to any loss covered by the policy...

 $^{^{3}}$ It is worth noting that if the court of appeals had established this rule several years earlier, Trinity could have safely rejected the tender with no fear of consequence under the facts of this case. As a matter of public policy, the Court should encourage the kind of behavior exhibited by Trinity, in accordance with the basic rules of good faith, not the behavior of Ohio, which was otherwise.

Because conventional subrogation can arise only by agreement, some jurisdictions have found it to be synonymous with assignment. An insurer entitled to subrogation "stands in the shoes" of the insured <u>and is entitled to the same rights</u> <u>and subject to the same defenses as the insured</u>. The effect of assignment under Washington law is substantially the same: "An assignee steps into the shoes of the assignor, and has all of the rights of the assignor."

Id. at 419-23 (emphasis added, citations omitted)

The trap the court of appeals fell into was its presumption that allowing the subrogated insurer to assert statutory claims was *denying* the insured's right to do so – thus conveying more rights to the paying insurer than the subrogation provision contemplated. But Trinity has *never* argued that it received any kind of a "stealth" assignment of MBC's bad faith or statutory causes of action. In fact, Trinity agrees that MBC did not have any, because Trinity eliminated the harm that flowed to MBC from Ohio's bad faith.⁴ But *after* the transfer of policy rights against Ohio, by subrogation, Trinity *was* entitled to "the same rights ... as the insured ... step[ping] into the shoes of the assignor, [with] all of the rights of the assignor" under Ohio's policy. *Id*.

Standing in MBC's shoes, Trinity repeatedly asserted MBC's

⁴ The court of appeals expressly noted that MBC had no causes of action against Ohio under *Ledcor Indus. (USA), Inc. v. Mut. of Enumclaw Ins. Co., 150 Wn. App. 1*, because MBC had "no losses to recover under IFCA and CPA claims." *Opinion at 15.* It is not possible to reconcile this statement with the court of appeals' later position that "... subrogation of primary insurers to the insureds' statutory rights would take from the insured the statutory damages to which they are entitled..." Opinion at 17.

policy rights against Ohio, with respect to both defense and indemnity.⁵ Each time it did so, Trinity had *the right* to be treated, by Ohio, as though it were Ohio's policyholder. It was to *Trinity*, standing in MBC's shoes, that Ohio denied policy benefits unreasonably and in bad faith. Allowing Trinity to assert the bad faith and statutory claims that flow from Ohio's treatment of Trinity as assignee / subrogee is not taking anything away from MBC. It is simply applying the jurisprudential and statutory tools that were created to ensure the enforcement of those very rights.

This concept is well known to Washington law. *First State Ins. Co. v. Kemper Nat. Ins. Co.*, 94 Wn. App. 602, 615, 971 P.2d 953 (1999). In *First State*, the insured was Great Western, which owned property on which Powell was accidentally electrocuted. Powell sued Great Western, which tendered to its primary insurer, Lumberman's Mutual, which accepted and appointed defense counsel. Great Western also had an excess policy with First State. The policy limits were \$1 million and \$5 million, respectively. The jury awarded Powell \$2 million. Lumberman's tendered its million to First State, and First State paid the rest. Believing that the defense had been dramatically mishandled by Lumberman's, First State

⁵ To remove any doubt, it is the insured's rights *under the policy* that are being enforced by subrogation: "It follows that MOE and CUIC may now seek USF's performance of the insurance contract through a conventional subrogation claim." *Mut. of Enumclaw Ins. Co. v. USF Ins. Co.*, 164 Wn.2d 411, 425, 191 P.3d 866, 875 (2008). That case describes the difference between asserting the insured's policy rights and asserting the insurer's *own* claim for equitable *contribution*.

subsequently sued Lumberman's for bad faith, negligence, misrepresentation, and violation of the CPA. One of Lumberman's defenses was that First State had no right to assert the CPA claim; the trial court agreed with Lumberman's, dismissing the CPA claim on that basis. The court of appeals reversed, holding that First State's position as the equitable subrogee entitled it to assert the insured's causes of action against Lumberman's, *including* the CPA claim.

Because the insurance company is standing in the shoes of the insured consumer, it logically follows that it may pursue the rights of its insured...

As the equitable subrogee to Great Western's rights, First State may proceed with its claim that Lumbermens' failure to settle with the Powells violated the CPA.

Id at 609-12 (emphasis added, citations omitted)

The court of appeals distinguished *First State* on the basis that the subrogated insurer in that case was an excess carrier rather than primary. There is no basis to do so. Here, Ohio *alone* had the duty to indemnify MBC, and it was only because of Ohio's bad faith that Trinity paid for that entire expense. That is exactly the scenario at issue where a primary insurer acts in bad faith, the excess carrier protects the insured, and then sues the primary on subrogated rights. This authority establishes that the rights under the policy that are transferred by subrogation have not been depleted of the statutory mechanisms available to enforce those rights.

It is established law of Washington that the subrogated insurer *is* standing in the insured's shoes, "entitled to the same rights as the insured.⁶" *Id*. The opinion of the court of appeals held that Trinity was *not* entitled to the same rights that MBC would have been. That direct contradiction, especially in a published opinion, must be reviewed and reversed.

b. Where policy rights have been assigned by subrogation, the assignee is entitled to the same protection under the IFCA as an insured.

In addition to undermining this Court's holdings regarding the nature of rights assigned by subrogation, the court of appeals also failed to give effect to the plain language of the IFCA itself. RCW 48.30.015 defines the term "first party insured," which is entitled to its protection:

> [A]n individual, corporation, association, partnership, or other legal entity *asserting a right to payment as a covered person* under an insurance policy or insurance contract arising out of the occurrence of the contingency or loss covered by such a policy or contract.

> > RCW 48.30.015(4) (emphasis added).

Although the IFCA could easily have been written to apply only to

"covered persons," it was not; it was written to apply legal entities

⁶ This principle is well-recognized, and not limited to the insurance context: "The final inquiry is to determine what rights pass in assignment. An assignee of a contract steps into the shoes of the assignor, and has all of the rights of the assignor. *The assignee's rights include not only those identified in the contract, but also applicable statutory rights." Puget Sound Nat. Bank v. State Dept. of Revenue*, 123 Wn.2d 284, 292, 868 P.2d 127 (1994). *Citations omitted, emphasis added.*

asserting rights *as* a covered person. This statutory language mirrors the Court's holding in *Mutual of Enumclaw v. USF* that the conventionally subrogated insurer is "standing in the shoes" of the insured, entitled to the same rights. Those "rights" in this case were the policy rights against Ohio, being asserted by Trinity "as a covered person under an insurance policy." RCW 48.40.015(4). Thus the IFCA expressly contemplates the situation where someone *other* than the insured is entitled to policy benefits (unquestionably the case by conventional subrogation), and the insurer unreasonably denies policy benefits *to that "non-insured" entity.*⁷

That is exactly what happened here, and Trinity had standing under the statute to assert the IFCA's treble damages and attorney fee provisions. RCW 48.30.015. The court of appeals even quoted the statutory definition of "first party insured," but without explanation, failed to give it any effect. The effect of the court of appeals opinion is a re-write of the statute such that only the entity whose name appears on the policy has standing to invoke it. Doing so violates this Court's holdings regarding statutory interpretation:

> Our fundamental objective when interpreting a statute is to discern and implement the intent of the legislature. The surest indication of the legislature's intent is the plain

⁷ The court of appeals' error is crystallized in this statement: "However, without express assignment, an insurer may not independently assert its insured's IFCA claims." *Opinion at 13*. The problem with that court's analysis is these were *not* MBC's IFCA claims; they were Trinity's.

meaning of the statute...

Five Corners Family Farmers v. State, 173 Wn.2d 296, 305, 268 P.3d 892, 897 (2011) (citations omitted)

This Court should accept review of that published opinion under RAP 13.4(b)(1) because it conflicts with this Court's standards of statutory interpretation, and under RAP 13.4(b)(4) because the severe limitation the court of appeals has imposed on this remedial statute involves a matter of substantial public interest. The Court should ensure that the statute provides its intended protection to those asserting a right to payment "as a covered person."

2. The court of appeals erred in reversing the trial court's award of fees, and in denying Trinity's fee application on appeal. [RAP 13.4(b)(1)]

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