RECEIVED
SUPREME COURT
STATE OF WASHINGTON
Oct 11, 2013, 2:19 pm
BY RONALD R. CARPENTER
CLERK

RECEIVED BY E-MAIL

No. 89331-4

SUPREME COURT FOR THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

TRINITY UNIVERSAL INSURANCE COMPANY OF KANSAS,

Petitioner,

v.

THE OHIO CASUALTY INSURANCE COMPANY,

Respondent.

OHIO CASUALTY'S ANSWER TO TRINITY'S PETITION FOR REVIEW

Philip A. Talmadge, WSBA #6973 Talmadge/Fitzpatrick 18010 Southcenter Parkway Tukwila, WA 98188-4630 (206) 574-6661

Alfred E. Donohue, WSBA #32774 Wilson, Smith Cochran & Dickerson 901 5th Avenue, Suite 1700 Seattle, WA 98165-2050 (206) 623-4100 Attorneys for Respondent Ohio Casualty Insurance Co.

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

C. REASONS WHY REVIEW SHOULD BE DENIED

As noted *supra*, Trinity actually recovered *more* than what it was entitled to recover if both it and Ohio were co-primary insureds, as it alleged below.

This case is essentially a dispute between insurers. Trinity made that point absolutely clear when it sued Ohio on its own behalf. It never bothered to "stand in the shoes" of MBC in bringing any extracontractual claims on MBC's behalf, but rather sought to recover IFCA and CPA damages for itself.² This Court should not warp the contours of the CPA, IFCA, or Olympic Steamship³ fees to allow an insurer to invoke such claims or principles that were designed to protect insureds.

(1) The Court of Appeals Correctly Addressed the Scope of a Default Judgment

Trinity wants this Court to adopt the principle that a default judgment may be entered even when the plaintiff lacked the ability to state the cause of action for which it sought relief. Pet. at 15-20. In effect, Trinity argues that even if it is utterly clear that the plaintiff could not state the claim under Washington law, or the judgment exceeded the claim pleaded in the complaint, courts are powerless under CR 60(b) to reform a default judgment because any error "inheres" in the default judgment. Pet.

² This was because Trinity never intended to share any of the proceeds of the extracontractual claims with MBC. Appropriating such valuable rights, without consideration, plainly raises a question of bad faith as to Trinity's conduct. RCW 48.01.030 applies principles of good faith to dealings between insurers and their insureds. This is a quasi-fiduciary duty that is not specific to the insurance contract; it requires an insurer to act under a broad obligation of fair dealing, giving equal consideration to the insured's interests. St. Paul Fire & Marine Ins. Co. v. Onvia, Inc., 165 Wn.2d 122, 129, 196 P.3d 664 (2008). Plainly, the appropriation of extracontractual rights of MBC by Trinity was the height of self-interest.

³ Olympic Steamship Co. v. Centennial Ins. Co., 117 Wn.2d 37, 52, 811 P.2d 673 (1991).

at 15. Such an argument is simply wrong under Washington law and would be inequitable. Far from a "dramatic departure from the law of final judgments," (pet. at 19), the Court of Appeals' decision is well within the principles of Washington law in addressing default judgments.

First, Trinity loses sight of a core value -- default judgments are disfavored under Washington law. Griggs v. Averbeck Realty, Inc., 92 Wn.2d 576, 581, 599 P.2d 1289 (1979). Default judgments should, for this reason, be strictly construed as to their propriety.

Second, there are limits in Washington law upon the ability of a party to apply to a trial court for default relief. In *In re Marriage of Lesley*, 112 Wn.2d 612, 772 P.2d 1013 (1989), this Court held that a court could not grant relief in a default judgment beyond that which the party sought in its complaint. The Court applied CR 60(b)(5) to find that such a judgment was void to the extent the relief awarded in the judgment exceeded the relief sought in a dissolution petition. *Id.* at 620. This result is rooted in due process considerations. *State ex rel. Adams v. Superior Court*, 36 Wn.2d 868, 872, 220 P.2d 1081 (1950); *Ware v. Phillips*, 77 Wn.2d 879, 468 P.2d 444 (1970). Similar due process considerations apply to an effort by a plaintiff to obtain relief that no law affords that plaintiff.

Washington courts have routinely set aside default judgments that purported to award relief different in nature than that prayed for in a complaint. See CR 54(c) ("A judgment by default shall not be different in kind from or exceed in amount that prayed for in the demand for judgment.").⁴

Finally, it has long been Washington law that a default judgment is void if the complaint states facts affirmatively showing the plaintiff has no right of recovery or the complaint lacks averments necessary to sustain a right to recover. Adams, 36 Wn.2d at 872-73. Contrary to Trinity's argument, Washington courts are not powerless to examine whether a default judgment is valid. A court may certainly determine that a default judgment is invalid because the plaintiff failed to state a claim in its complaint. In Kaye v. Lowe's HIW, Inc., 158 Wn. App. 320, 242 P.3d 27 (2010), the trial court properly refused to enter a default judgment where alleged facts, even if deemed to be true, failed to state a claim upon which

⁴ See, e.g., Sceva Steel Buildings, Inc. v. Weitz, 66 Wn.2d 260, 262-63, 401 P.2d 980 (1965) (plaintiff erected a steel building on land purchased by defendants under an executory contract of conditional sale; plaintiff brought action to foreclose labor and material liens, alleging defendants to be the owners of the land; default judgment and decree of foreclosure on the building only, directing the sheriff to sell the building, were void since the trial court granted a remedy different from that sought in the complaint); Mueller v. Garske, 1 Wn. App. 406, 409, 461 P.2d 886 (1969) (creditor commenced action for accounting of partnership assets and did not allege either fraud or wrongful withholding of funds; default judgment against defendant for funds and assets wrongfully and fraudulently withheld was void and subject to attack at any time); Davis v. Bafus, 3 Wn. App. 164, 166, 473 P.2d 192 (1970) (relief prayed for was rescission of contract and damages; default judgment granting damages but no rescission was void).

relief could be granted. The *Kaye* court properly noted that a default merely admits the facts in a complaint, not the legal conclusions there and the court has discretion to determine if the cause of action is "legitimate." *Id.* at 326. A court in entering a default judgment must assess both its jurisdiction and the sufficiency of the complaint and should not enter a judgment that would inevitably be vacated if challenged. *Id.* at 330. Thus, to the extent that a party seeks in a default judgment to obtain relief not authorized by Washington law, the judgment is void and relief under CR 60(b)(5) is appropriate because the court lacked the authority to award the relief requested. For example, a court would have the authority under CR 60(b)(5) to set aside a default judgment to the extent it purported to award punitive damages not authorized by Washington law, or it awarded damages to a party under a statute when the statute did not allow that party to recover such damages.⁵

In sum, the Court of Appeals correctly discerned that Ohio could challenge under CR 60(b)(5) a default judgment that purported to allow

⁵ The Court of Appeals based its decision on Trinity's lack of standing to assert the claims of MBC for damages under the CPA and IFCA, and to seek attorney fees. Op. at 11-17. It is undisputed that the lack of standing to assert claim renders a judgment void for purposes of CR 60(b)(5). Kaye, 158 Wn. App. at 330; Int'l Ass'n of Firefighters Local 1789 v. Spokane Airports, 146 Wn.2d 207, 212, 45 P.3d 186 (2002) ("standing is a jurisdictional issue ...).

Trinity to seek relief to which it was not entitled by statute or common law. Review of this issue is not merited. RAP 13.4(b).

(2) Trinity Lacked Standing to Assert MBC's Extracontractual Claims under the CPA and/or IFCA

Trinity contends that it has standing by virtue of its policy's subrogation clause to assert MBC's extracontractual rights against Ohio. Pet. at 6-15. In so doing, Trinity misrepresents the terms of its policy, attempting to seize MBC's valuable rights without consideration, and attempts to transform a dispute between insurers into grounds for allowing insurers to state claims under the CPA and IFCA, statutes designed to protect insureds. The Court of Appeals was entirely correct in rejecting Trinity's self-serving efforts. Op. at 11-17.

In two decisions, Mahler v. Szucs, 135 Wn.2d 398, 957 P.2d 632 (1998) and Mutual of Enumclaw Ins. Co. v. USF Ins. Co., 164 Wn.2d 411, 191 P.3d 866 (2008), this Court has explored the parameters of conventional and equitable subrogation and equitable contribution when there are disputes between insurers over the insurers' respective obligations as to a loss. The Court of Appeals' opinion is consistent with this Court's decisions. That court concluded that under conventional subrogation principles, MBC did not assign its extracontractual claims to

Trinity. Op. at 13-15. Moreover, under equitable subrogation principles, no assignment occurred. Op. at 15-17.

First, Trinity had no claim under the CPA or IFCA against Ohio, independent of MBC.⁶ The dispute merely involved a disagreement between two insurers over their respective coverage obligations to MBC. Trinity *nowhere* denied that, by their express terms, both the CPA and IFCA recognize that an insurer may not make a claim under those statutes, as the Court of Appeals correctly determined. Op. at 12-14. Thus, where,

⁶ Trinity's complaint alleged two very different types of causes of action: (1) subrogation and equitable contribution claims directly asserted against Ohio; and (2) extracontractual statutory claims asserted indirectly against Ohio as MBC's insurer. Trinity did not seek default judgment based on its own equitable claims, but rather conceded that the default judgment, in its entirety, was based on MBC's alleged IFCA and CPA claims. Br. of Resp't at 20. Whether or not Trinity could have asserted its own claims against an alleged co-insurer is irrelevant; the judgment is based solely on Trinity's claim that it could assert MBC's IFCA and CPA claims. Therefore, if MBC did not assign its claims to Trinity, or if those claims were not transferred to Trinity by operation of law, the default judgment should not have been entered.

As the Court of Appeals recognized, op. at 12, Trinity has no direct CPA or IFCA claims against Ohio. Washington law generally precludes a third party from suing an insurer directly for bad faith. Tank v. State Farm Fire & Cas. Co., 105 Wn.2d 381, 391, 715 P.2d 1133 (1986); Planet Ins. Co. v. Wong, 74 Wn. App. 905, 909-10, 877 P.2d 198, review denied, 125 Wn.2d 1008 (1994). Moreover, Trinity alleged a violation by Ohio of WAC 284-30-360(3) for failing to timely respond to a communication, but that regulation is limited to "pertinent communications from a claimant," not from another insurance carrier. The definition of "claimant" is specifically limited to first-party claimants (a person covered by an insurance policy) and third-party claimants (a person asserting a claim against a person covered by an insurance policy). See WAC 284-30-320(2), (6), (14). Trinity is neither. Likewise, the IFCA provides a private civil cause of action to a "first party claimant to a policy of insurance who is unreasonably denied a claim for coverage or payment of benefits by an insurer." RCW 48.30.015(1). IFCA does not provide a cause of action to an insurer trying to force another insurer to share expenses.

as here, there is no valid assignment of the insured's CPA or IFCA claims,

Trinity had no basis for presenting such claims in its own right.

Trinity also had no claim under the CPA or IFCA against Ohio under conventional subrogation principles. Conventional subrogation is based on the actual language of the insurance contract. *Mahler*, 135 Wn.2d at 412; *Mutual of Enumclaw*, 164 Wn.2d at 423. The Trinity policy language did not provide that it received MBC's CPA or IFCA rights.

Trinity ignores the language of its subrogation clause. The policy language does not assign all claims MBC might have against an insurer or third party, let alone CPA and IFCA claims. Rather, the policy language is expressly limited to assisting Trinity to recover "all or part of any payment we have made under this Coverage Part." This provision simply confirms Trinity's right to recover the actual expenses it paid on MBC's behalf, by a conventional subrogation claim against Ohio up to the amount it paid to defend and settle the case, if Ohio was, in fact, MBC's primary insurer. But Trinity's policy language nowhere mentions any general

⁷ In truth, Trinity's insured, MBC had no claim against Ohio under the CPA or IFCA either, given the principles of *Ledor Indus. (USA), Inc. v. Mut. of Enumclaw Ins. Co.*, 150 Wn. App. 1, 11, 206 P.3d 1255, *review denied*, 167 Wn.2d 1007 (2009), as Trinity itself acknowledged, pet. at 9 n.4, and the Court of Appeals noted. Op. at 15. Demonstrating the jumbling of doctrines in Trinity's argument, if Trinity was asserting MBC's rights under the CPA and IFCA, Trinity had no right to claim damages against Ohio under the CPA and IFCA because *MBC had no CPA or IFCA claim against* Ohio, having experienced no harm.

assignment or the transfer of any of MBC's extracontractual rights, such as a right to sue another insurer under the CPA or IFCA, as the Court of Appeals properly noted. Op. at 14.8

Trinity attempts to fuzz the distinction between an assignment and subrogation by referring to its subrogation clause as "an assignment by subrogation." Pet. at 8, 12. That is inaccurate.

Subrogation allows a party that has paid damages legally owed by another "to recoup those payments from the party responsible for the loss." *Mahler*, 135 Wn.2d at 413. This Court has defined subrogation in the insurance context generally as

the principle under which an insurer that has paid a loss under an insurance policy is entitled to all the rights and remedies belonging to the insured against a third party with respect to any loss covered by the policy.

Mut. of Enumclaw Ins. Co., 164 Wn.2d at 423 (quoting Black's Law Dictionary 1467 (8th ed. 2004)) (emphasis added). A subrogation claim arises when, and to the extent, an insurer has paid a claim on behalf of an insured that another party also has a legal obligation to pay. Id. Similarly, a claim for "equitable contribution" may arise when one party has paid a claim in full, or a larger portion of that claim than it equitably owes, when

⁸ Trinity does not address the obvious lack of consideration for its seizure of MBC's valuable rights and it certainly does not indicate that it would give any recovery beyond what it paid on MBC's behalf to MBC.

another party is also liable. See, e.g., Safeco Ins. Co. of Illinois v. Country Mutual Ins. Co., 165 Wn. App. 1, 267 P.3d 540 (2011). The amount of an equitable contribution claim is determined by the amount the party has paid out, and is apportioned between the parties, each being responsible for a portion of the total. Id. at 8.

Assignments, like conventional subrogation, are entirely different matters that are subject to contract law principles. An assignment is a contract. Boley v. Greenough, 22 P.3d 854, 858 (Wyo. 2001). Thus, the traditional principles of contract including mutual assent and consideration apply. While parties may assign causes of action, Berschauer/Phillips Constr. Co. v. Seattle Sch. Dist. No. 1, 124 Wn.2d 816, 832, 1881 P.2d 986 (1994), some assignments of causes of action are precluded by public policy considerations. Id.; Kommavongsa v. Haskell, 149 Wn.2d 288, 67 P.3d 1068 (2003) (barring assignment of legal malpractice claim to adversary). The terms of the assignment contract control.

Here, the alleged "assignment," by its terms, did not assign MBC's extracontractual claims to Trinity. The word "assignment" nowhere appears in that clause. No assignment of MBC's CPA or IFCA rights

⁹ In the context of the relationship between an insurer and an insured, given the quasi-fiduciary good faith duty owed by a insurer to its insured, and given the fact that insurance policies are contracts of adhesion, "assignments" of rights by insureds to insurers should, at a minimum, be strictly construed in favor of protecting the insured's interests. St. Paul Fire & Marine, 165 Wn.2d at 129.

occurred by virtue of Trinity's policy language here. Moreover, Trinity's policy, a contract of adhesion, gave MBC no consideration for MBC's loss of what were valuable rights. Indeed, according to Trinity, MBC assigned and gave away statutory claims worth a half million dollars for absolutely nothing. This reading of the policy makes no sense.

Contrary to Trinity's contention, pet. at 8-12, the Court of Appeals correctly applied this Court's teaching on subrogation from *Mutual of Enumclaw*. Subrogation does not equal an assignment of an insured's extracontractual claims to the insurer. The *Mutual of Enumclaw* court did discuss "equitable contribution" and "subrogation," but not in a way that supports Trinity's argument.

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